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Dear Fellow Shareholders 

The second half of the 2019/20 financial year will resonate through the business world for many years to come. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has set new standards to follow and introduced new challenges both business and personal for us 
all to jointly contend with.  

Margosa’s team has continued the aggressive approach to its development strategy, managing significant progress in 
the advancement of our business plan to become the leading “Vein Graphite Producer”.  

This included the following achievements: 

 The Company, with the assistance of Measured Group Pty Ltd, successfully increased the maiden 2019 JORC 
(2012) Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”) to 1,724,610 tonnes (grading 76.32% Total Graphitic Content),  A 
331% increase in tonnes and a 316% increase in the contained graphite over the maiden 2019 MRE.  

 Infrastructure, construction machinery and a second purpose-built diamond drilling rig were procured, and the 
majority shipped to Ridee Ganga.  

 Construction activities have started with the accommodation and site civil works, installation of the shaft collar 
and installation and commissioning of the dewatering bores.  

Like the rest of the global community, health and safety became the principal focus as the pandemic took hold and 
disrupted the world’s activities. Thankfully, there has been no reported incidents of COVID-19 within the Company, its 
contractors, or consultants. 

The MRE expansion, initial bulk mining and more detailed metallurgical studies, have greatly enhanced the Company’s 
confidence in the robustness and viability of the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project.   

In, what is shaping as one of the most difficult times in recent business history, Shareholders can be assured that 
Margosa’s team are doing everything within their control,  to accomplish the vision of becoming the leading “Vein 
Graphite” explorer and producer. 

On behalf of the Directors, I’d like to thank the Margosa team for remaining diligent and health conscious during these 
difficult and frustrating times, and, for maintaining a positive and proactive approach to tasks made even more 
complicated with the new norm. 

We look forward to initiating the site construction and development activities once the COVID-19 restrictions ease. 

Sincerely 

 

 

John Shackleton 
Executive Chairman 
Margosa Graphite Ltd

With travel restrictions and a work from home policy implemented, the Company still advanced the Feasibility Study 
(FS). Additionally, the in-country Exploration team have been kept busy with further testing of high priority targets 
within the Pathakada license, close to the Ridee Ganga deposit, with highly encouraging first past results. Regional 
geology work has continued throughout the Company exploration licenses, despite curfews and travel restrictions 
implemented throughout Sri Lanka. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

 

Overview 

 
The Financial Year 

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the coronavirus outbreak ('COVID-19') a "Public Health 
Emergency of International Concern" and on March 10, 2020, declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The operations of the 
Company could be negatively impacted by the regional and global outbreak of COVID-19 and may impact the 
Company's results and its ability to source funding for the next reporting year.   
 
As at the date of this report, the full effect of the outbreak remains uncertain. The effects are likely to be significant 
but cannot be reliably estimated or quantified. The Company will monitor the ongoing developments and be proactive 
in mitigating the impact on its operations. 
 

Company Strategy 

 

Company Milestones for FY20 

1. The Company has ensured that its personal have remained safe, with no reported incident of COVID-19 being 
contracted by any of its employees, contractors or consultants. 

2. New JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate (“MRE”) of approximately 1,724,610 tonnes grading 76.32% Total 
Graphitic Content (“TGC”) for Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Deposit, Western Province, Sri Lanka. This represents 
a 331% increase in tonnes over the maiden MRE completed in March 2019.  The Indicated Resources now stand 
at approximately 582,610 tonnes grading 75.83% TGC for 441,790 tonnes of contained graphite: representing 
a four-fold increase in tonnes from the 2019 MRE. (Refer to Company’s previous announcement dated 14 May 
2020 available at https://www.margosagraphite.com/investors-media/) 

3. Made excellent progress towards the completion of a positive Feasibility Study on Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite 
Project. 

6. Initial works for the shaft sinking at Ridee Ganga is complete, including the concrete civil works for the shaft 
collar and installation and equipping of a shaft dewatering bore. 

8. Exploration programs continue in parallel with project development to test other geophysical targets near the 
Ridee Ganga Deposit.  

    

Margosa Graphite Ltd (‘the Company” or “Margosa”) is a public unlisted company incorporated in Western Australia. 
The Company, through its subsidiaries (“the Group”) is primarily involved in mineral exploration and development in Sri 
Lanka.  

During the year, the Company raised $5.8m through the issue of shares under a private placement at an issue price of 
35 cents per share.  

The Group’s  vision is  to find, develop and mine high-purity crystalline vein graphite in Sri  Lanka,  and become  the 
largest global supplier of this unique and superior graphite form.  

4. Identified and developed a bulk underground mining method, that has not been utilised for ”Vein Graphite”
 production in Sri Lanka previously.  

7. Completed design and construction of a second purpose built diamond drilling rig to further expand and 
explore its prospective Electromagnetic (“EM”) targets previously identified. This smaller, lighter framed drill 
rig will enable the Exploration team to traverse the more challenging terrains and locations within its 
tenements, as well as, having the ability to be dismantled and man carried both on the surface and 
underground.  

5. Infrastructure for the accommodation, offices and workshop facilities has been purchased and shipped to the 
Ridee Ganga Project site. Construction machinery and equipment has also been purchased and shipped whilst 
operational headframes, winders and associated mining equipment have been refurbished and are now 
containerised, waiting shipment to Sri Lanka.   
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Graphite Exploration Project Review 

During FY20, Margosa has successfully completed drilling to upgrade its maiden JORC (2012) Mineral Resource Estimate 
for the Ridee Ganga deposit within the Pathakada (EL/219) exploration license. Vein graphite mineralisation remains 
open in all directions at Ridee Ganga. The Company is now well advanced in completing its Feasibility Study for this 
project. A review of work at Pathakada, and over the Company’s other Sri Lankan license areas in FY20 and planned 
programs for FY21 is set out below:  

Project Review 

Pathakada EL/219 

 

Table 1-1: Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project Mineral Resource Estimate April 2020 
Pathakada Graphite Mineral Resources March 2020 

Total Mineral Resources 

 Tonnes TGC (%) 

Indicated 582,610 75.83 

Inferred  1,142,000 76.57 

TOTAL 1,724,610 76.32 
NOTES: 

1 Total estimate are rounded to reflect confidence and resource classification 

2 Classification of Mineral Resources incorporates the terms and definitions from the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code, 2012) published by the Joint Ore Reserve Committee (JORC) 

3. For further details refer to announcement dated 14 May 2020. The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially 
affects the information included in that market announcement and all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in that 
market announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed 

 
Metallurgy 

To date, the only detailed metallurgical studies (2019) had been based upon a selective mining 
option for the Ridee Ganga deposit. The 2020 test campaign extended the 2019 work, with 
the main objectives to provide: 
- firm basis for the Feasibility Study processing plant design;  
- estimates of graphite recovery, as well as plant operating and capital costs; and 
- information on the characteristics of the graphite concentrate products such that their 

commercial value can be estimated for the Feasibility Study. 
 

Measured Group Pty Ltd ("Measured") was commissioned by Margosa to prepare a 
Mineral Resources Estimate (“MRE”) update for the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project. 
 
Measured scrutinised the historical data and Margosa geological database, QA/QC 
procedures, topographic surfaces and geological interpretations. 
 
The geological database used to support this MRE update contains 49 drill holes for a total of 
8,652m. Measured Group used these drill holes and other relevant data for the 
geological interpretation and MRE. 
 
The geological model developed by Measured Group is clipped to the extents of drilling 
data and geological knowledge. The graphite mineralisation at the Ridee Ganga Vein 
Graphite Project is open to the north, south and at depth. Further drilling and other 
exploration methods will refine the geological model and knowledge of the Ridee Ganga Vein 
Graphite Project mineralisation and subsequent MRE. 
 
The MRE for the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project is 1,724,610 tonnes, containing 76.32% 
TGC. This estimate consists of an Indicated Mineral Resource of 582,610 tonnes at 75.83% 
TGC and an Inferred Mineral Resource of 1,142,000 tonnes, containing 76.57% TGC. This 
estimate has been compiled under JORC (2012). 
 
The breakdown of the Mineral Resources follows: 
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Nagrom Laboratories carried out bench scale testing on a composite sample (296 kg) that 
came from 12 diamond drill holes through the centre of the Ridee Ganga deposit. This sample 
was considered representative and appropriate for the metallurgical testwork, from which 
the design criteria data could be gathered. The following tests were carried out: 
- Sensor based sorting 
- Bench scale floatation testing 
- Mineralogy, and 
- WHIMs separation 

A graphite processing flow sheet is being developed based on this metallurgical test work and 
will be presented in the upcoming Feasibility Study. 

 

Mining 2019/2020 
Several significant milestones have been achieved as the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project 
enters early stage development and moves toward production. 

 

 
Figure 1 - Graphite Pods Identified by Drill Core Analysis 

 
 

 

Through exploration success the project is now much larger and permits development at an 
entirely different scale than was ever previously contemplated.   The project plan now 
includes utilising modern mechanised techniques, mobile plant and equipment and a blend 
of both selective hydraulic and highly productive bulk extraction methods. The methods 
planned will bring modern, productive, and low-cost mechanised production to Sri Lanka, and 
because of its resource Ridee Ganga deposit is expected to have a mine life exceeding 20 
years.  

This is likely to be represented by a simple crush-sensor sort- high grade and low grade grind-
float circuits,  is anticipated to have a very low capital cost, provide highly competitive 
operational costs, high recovery percentages and deliver high concentrate grades (+97%TGC) 
at a number of particle fractions.  
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Activities throughout the year have included: 
• Exploration drilling which has delivered a resource upgrade and has defined geological 

parameters essential for detailed mine planning, including: 
o Geometry, definition, and quality of ore shoots 
o Geotechnical data 
o Spatial relationships  
o Extensional corridors for future expansion 

• Detailed mine plans have been developed and form part of a project feasibility, which 
has commenced and is anticipated to be completed in October 2020 

• Equipment for commencement of restoration of an old shaft has been purchased and 
refurbished  

• A geotechnical study of ground conditions in the immediate area and to the depth of 
the proposed shaft was completed by independent consultants 

• A geotechnical study for the planned mine development and production areas was 
completed by independent consultants 

• Environmental studies have been advanced 
• Hydrological studies and draw down pumping tests were undertaken 
• Mine site location has been levelled and profiled for drainage 
• Water management plans have been developed – baseline information has been 

restoration of an old shaft and as discussed above with equipment purchased to 
facilitate the works 

• Preliminary application for an A Class Industrial Mining Licence has been made to the 
GSMB. Local consultants are preparing documentation for submission to gain full 
approval  

• Infrastructure, laydown and workshop areas have been cleared and profiled 
• Mine dewatering bore holes have been drilled and one equipped with a bore hole 

pump. The pumps and bore holes have been designed to keep the water table below 
the shaft floor as it is being developed 

• A “Community Well” project has been designed and approved for construction – it will 
provide water to residents who may be affected by the mines dewatering operations. 
This program is at Margosa’s cost. 

 

Mining Development 

 
 

 

 

gathered and well testing is being undertaken – level and quality 
• Safety management systems have been developed 
• A baseline crack survey of nearby community houses has been conducted 
• Application to the Geological Survey and Mines Bureau (GSMB) has been made for 

• A concrete shaft collar pad and concrete reinforced shaft opening to a depth of 3.5m 
has been established. 

Independent consultants, Measured Group, based in Brisbane (Qld) were awarded a scope 
of work to undertake mining studies for the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Project. They were 
also awarded the geological modelling and MRE work, being very familiar and well 
qualified, to assist with planning and scheduling the physical characteristics of the Project. 
These studies form part of the feasibility which is underway and expected to be complete in 
the first half of FY21. Assuming the finalisation of a successful Feasibility Study, the mine 
plan is expected to be based on detailed geological modelling looking to primarily 
identify envelopes amenable to bulk extraction. The remainder of identified viable 
structures are to be mined by hydraulic methods which have been amended from coal 
mining practices.  
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Figure 2 - Ridee Ganga Hydraulic Mining Areas 

 
Other methods of extraction have been considered in undertaking the mine study but are not 
expected to deliver comparable results as there are higher risks associated. 

 

Key elements of the proposed mine plan are expected to be: 
• A shaft will be excavated to 65 vertical metres and bulk samples of graphite will be 

• The primary mine access will be via a decline grading 1:7 having a clear dimension of 
3.5m by 3.5m. 

development walls, as recommended by the independent geotechnical report 
• A modified Avoca method will be the main method of bulk ore extraction. It is a highly 

• Avoca stopes will be backfilled progressively, and in every odd panel fill consolidated 
with cement fill. This enables extraction of adjacent panels once the fill has set. 
 

mined for testing and market development. The shaft will be equipped for egress and 
will serve as the mine emergency egress, provide for mine ventilation and allow 
service installation to carry power, water, compressed air and pump discharge line for 
mine dewatering. 

• The decline will be developed with mobile diesel loaders, trucks and an electric 
hydraulic jumbo drilling machine.  

• A support membrane (shotcrete/fibre crete) will be applied to all primary 

productive method that has been modified to cater for the specific requirements of 
the Ridee Ganga resource, and is expected to deliver an over call on recovery of the 
resource model. The resource model only includes veins of 5cm or greater and there 
are many narrower veins that will be recovered with this method. 
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Figure 3 - Modified AVOCA Bulk Stope - Operating Sequence 

 

Selective hydraulic mining will be conducted in areas not amenable to bulk mining. This 
method, used to successfully mine narrow coal seams, has been chosen to mine narrow high-
grade graphite seams because of the similarity between graphite and seam coal. The method 
involves using high pressure water to lance narrow graphite seams and recover the “washed 
out” graphite. The country or host rocks are of contrasting competency so remain unaffected 
by the water blast. This method offers a cleaner, higher grade ore stream, and can be 
employed in areas not amenable to bulk mining. It requires continuous vein thickness of 
+50mm, can accommodate gentle variations in dip and is relatively inexpensive to operate. 
Unfortunately, this method requires high rates of development per tonne mined and has a 
low overall recovery of the resource. Veins spacing is also critical and restricts application of 
this method in all areas.   
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Figure 4 - Process Flow Diagram for the Hydraulic Mining System 

 
Exploration 

 
Figure 5 – Purpose built diamond drill rig  

 

Exploration works have continued within the Pathakada Exploration Licence: EL/219 (i.e. within 
conductors identified during both the FLEM and the AEM surveys), with a focus on targets 
located within proximity to the Ridee Ganga Project. Exploration activities relocated back to 
this tenement package, due to the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions being implemented. Drilling 
was halted for a 2-month period, due to internal travel curfews, as well as periodic delays also 
attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 recently spent time working with Alton in their workshop testing and fine-tuning the drill rig to
 optimise it for Sri Lankan drilling conditions. 

The Exploration management team where demobilised and operations were controlled 
remotely. The Company’s drill superintendent has been working closely with Alton Drilling (New 
Zealand), to design, construct and commission a new purpose built, diamond drill rig. He has
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Other Projects Review 

Aluketiya EL/218  

 

 Aluketiya is located in the Kalutara district. The Aluketiya area is recognised as one of the 
richest areas for past graphite production. This area was last surveyed by the GSMB in 1974, 
with 474 pits at 108 localities described, with depths ranging from 100 to 780 feet. 

 Aluketiya has three high priority targets. These targets were identified during the 2017 AEM 
survey and all represent walk-up drill targets as EM data indicates the strike and dip direction 
of the graphite conductors. 

  A 7-hole drill program was completed in 2019 to test one of these targets, focusing on 
geophysics, geological structures (i.e. faults, antiforms).  Graphite mineralisation was 
identified in drill core and additional drilling is planned in Aluketiya for FY21. 

Dumbara EL/264, 
EL/311, EL312, 
EL/313 

 

 The project is located about 55 km southeast of Colombo and is recorded as the first area to 
be commercially mined for graphite in Sri Lanka in the 1850s.  

 The GSMB surveyed the Dumbara area in 1975 and examined 327 localities, and identified 
abandoned graphite mines and pits at 45 locations (Ceylon Geological Survey, 1975).  

 Initial field work by the Company has located numerous historical mine workings with 
substantial concrete foundations remnant from processing facilities. The September 2017 
Airborne EM (“AEM”) survey was flown to locate new mineralisation and assess remnant 
potential within areas previously mined. This project is a Tier 1 target for exploration and 
future development. 

 The initial drilling program will likely focus on where the historical workings and AEM targets 
align.  

Waharaka EL/294 

 

 The Waharaka project is located about 40 km east north east of Colombo and about 15 km 
southwest of the Graphit Kropfmuhl’s Bogala graphite mine, which has operated for nearly 
150 years and is currently over 500 m deep.  

 Government mapping indicates numerous graphite occurrences. 
 Field reconnaissance by the Company has located clusters of historical mine workings, 

including shafts, adits and remnant foundations.  
 Vein graphite mineralisation were noted around some of the old workings. Bulk sample 

~25 kg of graphite has been collected for metallurgical comparison. 
 This project is ranked as a Tier 1 target for exploration. FLEM surveying and follow up drilling 

is planned in the next 24 months, being delayed due to COVID-19.  

Kithulgala EL/270 

 

 Kithulgala lies about 60 km east of Colombo and approximately 5 km south of the producing 
Bogala graphite mine, on the Bogala Antiform. There are several workings operated by Bogala 
Graphite PLC, of which the Bogala mine is the main location.  

 As per the aforementioned projects, Kithulgala represents a Tier 1 exploration target that 
was subsequently covered in the 2017 AEM survey to detect hidden graphite conductors, 
along the highly prospective lithostructural corridors. The topography of the tenement and 
flight height issues in AEM survey, has impacted the associated interpretation of data.  

 Ground EM surveys have been delayed due to COVID-19. 
 Further FLEM surveys and drilling are planned in the next 24 months. 

Bopitiya EL/255 

 

 The Bopitiya project comprises two blocks of ground and is situated about 50 km northeast 
of Colombo, just south of the Colombo-Kandy road. The Bogala graphite mine is 
approximately 10 km to the southeast. 

 Detailed field mapping undertaken in 2019/2020 has emphasised several of the priority 
targets, which will also be utilised in the upcoming geophysical and drilling program rankings.  

 The Dumbara Project comprises four exploration licences. Due to the topography and 
increased flight heights, the targets generated from the AEM were not quite as clear as the 
information returned from Pathakada and Aluketiya. As a result, the Company’s geophysical 
consultants Southern Geoscience (SGC) have recommended follow-up FLEM surveys to be 
conducted over the most prospective outlined anomalies. The aim of this work will be to 
confirm the size and depth and orientation of the already outlined AEM anomalies. This 
will ultimately aid in the designing of drill campaigns. 



MARGOSA GRAPHITE LTD | REVIEW OF OPERATIONS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020  

 

page 13 

 Early mapping by the GSMB indicated two graphite occurrences to the southwest of the 
Exploration Licence, and the Company has identified four clusters of workings during FY19 
field visits.  

 The Company to conduct further field investigation to advance this project.  

Dehiowita EL/319 

 

 The Dehiowita project is situated about 45 km east of Colombo and south of the Waharaka 
project.  

 Advanced field exploration is to be undertaken in the next 12 months on the most prospective 
areas.  

Yattawatura 
EL/271 

 

 The Yattawatura project is located about 45 km east of Colombo, located between the 
Dehiowita and Dumbara projects. 

 Government mapping displayed evidence of historical graphite mining in the licence area and 
the Company field visits confirmed three locations where mining took place early in the last 
century.  

 Additional geological reconnaissance and mapping is currently in progress. 

Avissawella 
(32km2) / 
Kukulaga (17km2) 

 

 
 These applications represent strike extensions to the Dehiowita-Waharaka and Dumbara Tier 

1 project areas, respectively.  
 The Avissawella and Kukulaga licences have been paid for and will be issued when the final 

work program is presented to the GSMB in FY21.  

Gabbala (20km2) 

(New Application) 

 The Gabbala licence application is located approximately 100 km northeast of Colombo in the 
Kegalle District in Sabaragamuwa Province. 

 The initial field investigations and report highlighted at least 20 graphite pits from historical 
workings dating back to the 1940s. 

 

Financial results and condit ion 
The loss for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 attributable to members of the Company after income tax was 
$1,355,438 (2019: loss of $1,305,650).  

 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group had a working capital surplus of $1,787,163 (2019: $116,388) and net cash 
inflows of $1,599,857 (2019: inflow $94,557). 
 

 GSMB mapping shows several graphite (and gem) occurrences and initial fieldwork by the 
company has verified numerous clusters of old mine workings on north-northwest trending 
shear zones and fold axis. This project is a Tier 1 target for future exploration.  

 The Company has carried out intensive mapping of the Exploration Licence.  

 These Exploration Licences are new applications awaiting final approval, with delays in the 
applications due to COVID-19. 

 The application was submitted to GSMB, delays in approval are due to COVID-19. 
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Summary of results 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Revenue from ordinary activities - - 

Other income 4,562 22,882 

Loss from continuing operations  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

Loss attributable to owners of Margosa Graphite Ltd (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income  80,397 13,208 

Total comprehensive loss (1,275,041) (1,292,442) 
   

Underlying loss per share (cents) (2.00) (2.56) 
Shares in issue at reporting date 76,772,385 55,541,933 

Weighted average number of shares 67,713,672 50,979,140 

 

 
Corporate summary 

The Directors of Margosa believe the Group is well positioned to continue to deliver significant shareholder value.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of Margosa Graphite Ltd and of the Group, being the 
Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and the auditor’s report thereon. 

 
1.  DI RE C TOR S  

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Name and independence status Experience, qualifications, special responsibilities and other directorships 

John Shackleton 
Executive Chairman 
Appointed: 7 December 2012 
 
Interest in shares:  
Shares:     5,254,998 
Performance rights:  1,600,000 

A professional with 30 years of experience and prior responsibility for feasibility 
studies and construction of gold and base metal projects. John has Project 
Management experience in multiple African countries, the US, the Philippines, 
Dominican Republic and has owned and operated a successful electrical 
construction and consulting business. 
 

Peter Cunningham 
Mining Director 
Appointed: 18 January 2017 
 
Interest in shares:  
Shares:    750,000 
Performance rights:  950,000  

Peter is a highly qualified mining engineer with over 35 years of experience in 
mine development and management in Australia, Asia and Africa. He has 
extensive prior experience being at Senior Executive and Board levels. He was the 
Managing Director of Bluestone Tin and Auvex Resources LTD and an Executive 
Director at Hill 50 Gold NL, Abelle Ltd and Shaw River Manganese. 

Peter Venn 
Technical Director 
Appointed: 8 February 2017 
 
Interest in shares:  
Shares:    1,190,298 
Performance rights:  950,000  

Peter is a Geologist with over 30 years of experience and achievement in the 
global resources sector. After commencing his career in the WA Goldfields as a 
consultant he held senior and executive roles with Resolute Mining Limited in 
Africa and Australia for more than 20 years. Peter has established and led highly 
successful teams and has been closely involved in the exploration, acquisition, 
evaluation and development of more than ten gold mines. - Peter is currently a 
Non-Executive Director of Horizon Gold Limited. 

Varuna Mallawarachchi 

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 8 February 2017 

 

Interest in shares:  
Shares:    4,422,134 
Performance rights:  950,000 

Varuna has 20 years legal experience and Senior Partner at Mallawarachchi 
Associates: A Sri Lankan law firm specializing in corporate advisory services. He is 
a recognized expert in labor law. He has held board level positions in several local 
mining companies. 

 
2.  COM P AN Y SE CRE TAR Y 

 

Kelly Moore  
Kelly Moore is the director of consulting and advisory firm Meridian Corporate Consultants Pty Ltd. Kelly is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant and Chartered Company Secretary with extensive experience in senior financial and governance advisory roles. 
Having previously held roles providing corporate accounting and governance services to a wide range of entities, Kelly has 
gained a wealth of experience in the financial reporting and compliance requirements of companies, both listed and unlisted. 
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3.  DI RE C TOR S ’  M E ETI NG S  

 

Director Full meetings of Directors 

  
No. of meetings 

attended 

No. of meetings 
held whilst 

a Director 

   

John Shackleton 5 5 

Peter Cunningham 5 5 
Peter Venn 5 5 

Varuna Mallawarachchi 2 5 

 

 

4.  PRI NC IP AL  AC T I VIT IES  
The principal activity of the Group during the financial year was graphite exploration and development in Sri Lanka. 

 

5.  OPE R ATI NG  A ND F IN AN CIA L  R E VIE W  
Information on the operations and financial position of the Group and its strategies and prospects is set out in the Review of 
Operations at the beginning of this Annual Report. 

 

6.  SIGN I FI CAN T C H ANG E S IN  T HE  ST A TE  O F AF F AI RS  

 

7.  DI VI DE ND S  
The Directors recommend that no dividend be provided for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil). 

 

8.  L I KELY  DEVEL OP M E NTS  

The Group will continue to pursue its strategy to further develop its exploration portfolio in Sri Lanka. 
 

9.  EVE NT S SUB SEQUE N T T O  R E PO R TIN G D A TE  
Other than the matters disclosed in note 6.6 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements, there have been no matters 
or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the operations of the Group, the results of these operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

 

 

 

 

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2020, and the number of 
meetings attended by each Director was as follows: 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no matters that significantly affected the state of affairs of the Group during the 
financial year. 

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing. Whilst it has had limited financial impact for the consolidated 
entity up to 30 June 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. 
 
The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by both the Australian and Sri Lankan Governments 
along with other countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any 

economic stimulus that may be provided. 
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10 .  ENVI RONM E N TA L R EG U LA TI ON  

 

11 .  INDE M NI FI CA TI ON AN D  INS UR AN CE OF  OF FI CE R S AN D AU DI TO R S  
During the financial year, the Company paid an insurance premium to insure the officers of the Group. 

 

The Group has not provided any indemnity for an auditor of the Group.  

 
12 .  NON - A UD IT  SER VI CE S   

The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Group are important. 
 

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that the provision of 
these non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company; and 
 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out 

in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s 
own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the 
Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 
 

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, BDO Perth, and its related practices for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out in Note 6.7 in the financial statements.  

 

13 .  PRO CE E E DING S ON BE H ALF  O F T HE  GRO UP  
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of 
the Group, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Group is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf 
of the Group for all or part of those proceedings. 

 
14 .  LEA D A U DIT O R ’S I NDE P E NDE NCE  DE C LA RA TI O N  

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, is included in 
the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

 
This Directors' Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 
 

 

John Shackleton 

Executive Chairman 
 

Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 29th day of October 2020. 

 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in relation to its exploration activities.  It aims to ensure that the 
highest standard of environmental care is achieved, and that it complies with all relevant environmental legislation.  The 
Directors are not aware of any breaches during the period covered by this report. 



BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 110 275,
an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and
form part of the international BDO network of independent firms. Liability a by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Tel: +61 8 6382 4600
Fax: +61 8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY DEAN JUST TO THE DIRECTORS OF MARGOSA GRAPHITE
LIMITED

As lead auditor of Margosa Graphite Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Margosa Graphite Limited and the entities it controlled during the
period.

Dean Just

Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Perth, 29 October 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 
 
  2020 2019 
 Note $ $ 

Net assets  8,846,644 4,262,358  

    
Equity    
Share capital 5.1 15,405,878 9,291,551 
Share based payment reserve 6.2 - 255,000 
Foreign currency translation reserve  144,753 64,356 
Accumulated losses  (6,703,987) (5,348,549) 
Total equity attributable to equity holders  
of the Company 

 8,846,644 4,262,358 

    
 

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

  

Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 2,070,989 286,975 
Trade and other receivables 4.2  70,744   53,044  
Inventory   61,987   36,348  
Prepayments   199,808   21,266  
Total current assets  2,403,528 397,633 
    
Non-current assets    
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 3.1  5,813,596   3,696,479  
Property, plant and equipment 3.2  1,095,218   420,903  
Right of use assets 3.3 320,575 - 
Other assets   153,257   28,588  
Total non-current assets  7,382,646  4,145,970  
Total assets  9,786,174  4,543,603  
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 4.3 587,400  281,245  
Lease Liability 3.3 28,965 - 
Total current liabilities  616,365 281,245 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Lease liability 3.3 323,165 - 
Total non-current liabilities  323,165  -  
Total liabilities  939,530 281,245 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

    

Revenue from operating activities    
Other income 2.2 4,562 22,882 

    

Expenses    
Consulting fees   (420,166)  (330,080) 

Directors’ fees   (172,752)  (162,830) 

Legal fees   (50,006)  (9,739) 

Other operating expenses 2.3  (527,125)  (482,816) 
Lease payments   (45,684)  (22,067) 

Finance expenses 2.4  (36,316)  (9,658) 

Depreciation  (11,632)  (3,514) 

Share based payments 6.2 (28,293) (255,000) 
Foreign exchange loss   (68,026)  (52,828) 

    

Loss before income tax  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

    
Income tax expense  - - 

    

Loss for the year  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

    

Loss per share (cents per share)    
Basic and diluted (cents per share) 2.5 (2.00) (2.56) 

    

 
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

 (1,275,041) (1,292,442) 

 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 
 

 

 

  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

    

Loss for the year  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Foreign currency translation difference of foreign operations  80,397 13,208 

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  80,397 13,208 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,275,041) (1,292,442) 

    

    

Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the 

Company 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

 

Share 

capital 

 

Share based 
payment 
reserves 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Accumulated 

losses 

 

Total 

 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2018  6,762,125  -  51,148   (4,042,899)  2,770,374  

      

Loss for the year - - -  (1,305,650)  (1,305,650) 

Foreign exchange translation difference on 

foreign operations 
- -  13,208 -  13,208 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - -  13,208  (1,305,650)  (1,292,442) 

      

Contributions by and distributions with owners      

Issue of ordinary shares 2,052,100 - - - 2,052,100 

Unissued shares 503,452 - - - 503,452 

Share issue costs (26,126) - - - (26,126) 

Performance issue vested - 255,000 - - 255,000 

Total transactions with owners 2,529,426 255,000 - - 2,784,426 

      

Balance at 30 June 2019  9,291,551  255,000  64,356   (5,348,549)  4,262,358  

 

 
 

 
   

Balance at 1 July 2019  9,291,551  255,000  64,356   (5,348,549)  4,262,358  

      

Loss for the year - - -  (1,355,438)  (1,355,438) 

Foreign exchange translation difference on 

foreign operations 
- -  80,397 -  80,397 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - 80,397  (1,355,438)  (1,275,041) 

      

Contributions by and distributions with owners      

Rights issue 5,802,547 - - - 5,802,547 

Share based payments 124,737        - - - 124,737 

Performance share vested - 28,293 - - 28,293 

Performance shares issued 283,293 (283,293) - - - 

Share issue costs (96,250) - - - (96,250) 

Total transactions with owners 6,114,327 (255,000) - - 5,859,327 

      

Balance at 30 June 2020 15,405,878 - 144,753 (6,703,987) 8,846,644 

 

The above consolidated statement of changes of equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



MARGOSA GRAPHITE LTD | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  

 

page 23 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (1,131,404) (892,601) 

Interest received   (40,205) 1,780 

Net cash used in operating activities 4.1b  (1,171,609) (890,821) 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Exploration acquisition costs paid   (822,627) (1,292,157) 

Payments for property, plant & equipment   (2,038,619) (50,790) 

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,861,246) (1,342,947) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares and options 5.1  5,802,547  1,664,903 

Proceeds from convertible notes   -   710,000 

Lease payments   (73,585) - 
Share issue costs paid   (96,250)   (26,126) 

Repayment of convertible notes  -  (20,452) 

Net cash from financing activities   5,632,712  2,328,325 

    

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   1,599,857  94,557 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   286,975  178,711 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held   184,157  13,707 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 4.1a  2,070,989  286,975 

    
 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

SECTION 1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

In preparing the 2020 financial statements, the Company has grouped notes into sections under six key categories: 

1. Basis of preparation 
2. Results for the year 
3. Assets and liabilities relating to exploration and evaluation 
4. Working capital disclosures 
5. Equity and funding 
6. Other disclosures 

Significant accounting policies specific to one note are included within that note.  Accounting policies determined non-
significant are not included in the financial statements.  There have been no changes to the Group’s accounting policies that 
are no longer disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
1.1 .  GENER AL INF OR M A TI O N 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities’) and were authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors on 29 October 2020. The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which: 

 have been prepared on a historical cost basis.  The basis of measurement is discussed further in the individual notes; 
 are presented in Australian Dollars, being the Company’s presentation and functional currency.  Margosa Investment 

(Pvt) Ltd and Lankan Resources & Mining (Pvt) Ltd’s functional currency are Sri Lankan Rupees; 

 do not early adopt any Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but not 
yet effective.  Refer to note 6.11 for further details. 

 

 

The Company is a for-profit, unlisted public company domiciled in Australia.  The Company’s registered office is located at 
Suite 12, 177 Rokeby Road, Subiaco WA 6008. 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
('AASBs') and other authoritative pronouncements of the Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’).  The consolidated 
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’); 

The Group is primarily involved in graphite exploration and development in Sri Lanka. 

 adopt all new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to 
the operations of the Group and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019.  Refer to note 6.10
 for further details; and 
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1.2 .  GOIN G CON CE RN  

The Directors believe there are sufficient funds to meet the entity’s working capital requirements and as at the date of this 
report. The financial report has been prepared on the basis that the Group is a going concern, which contemplates the 
continuity of normal business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business for the 
following reasons: 

 The Directors have the ability to reduce expenditure in order to preserve cash if required; and 

 
1.3 .  BA SI S  OF  C O NS OL I DA TI ON  

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases.   
 

1.4 .  FORE I G N CU RR ENCIE S  

The primary economic environment in which the Group operates is Australia.  The consolidated financial statements are 
therefore presented in Australian dollars.  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Australian dollars at the exchange rate on that day.  Foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Australian dollars at the year end exchange rate.  Where there is a movement 
in the exchange rate between the date of the transaction and the year end, a foreign exchange gain or loss may arise.  Any such 
differences are recognised in the income statement.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are 
translated into Australian dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded 
$4,032,855

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business 
activity and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. 

The COVID-19 pandemic, announced by the World Health Organisation on 31 January 2020, is having a negative impact on 
world stock markets, currencies and general business activity. The Group has developed a policy and is evolving procedures to 
address the health and wellbeing of employees, consultants and contractors in relation to COVID-19. The timing and extent of 
the impact and recovery from COVID-19 is unknown but it may have an impact on activities and potentially impact the ability 
for the entity to raise capital in the current prevailing market conditions.  

a loss of $1,355,438 (2019: $1,305,650), and experienced net cash 
outflows from operating and investing activities of  (2019: $2,233,768). At 30 June 2020, the Group had net current 
assets of $1,787,164 (2019: $116,388). At 30 June 2020, the cash balance was $2,070,989 (2019 $286,975). 

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional equity funding to continue to fund 
its operational and exploration activities. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt 
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of business.  

 The Group has historically demonstrated its ability to rai
19

se funds to satisfy its immediate cash requirements, including 
raising $5.8m from private share placement between 1 July 20  and the date of this report. 

Should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise is assets and discharge its liabilities 
other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those stated in the half-year financial report.  
The half-year financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded 
asset amounts or liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern. 
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1.5 .  IM P AI RM ENT  

Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its non-financial assets, other than DTA’s, to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.   

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  Value in use is based on 
the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds it recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 
1.6 .  ACC OUN TIN G JU DGEM E NT S ,  E S TIM AT ES  

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. 
 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may have, on 
the association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, 
customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the association operates. Other than as addressed in specific 
notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant 
uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the incorporated association unfavourably as at the 
reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements and information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have 
a significant risk of resulting in material adjustment are included in the following notes: 
 

 

 

  

 Note 1.2 – Going Concern 
 Note 3.1 – Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 Note 3.3 – Right of Use Assets & Lease Liability 
 Note 6.2 – Share Based Payments 
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SECTION 2 RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 

This section focuses on the results and performance of the Group, with disclosures including segmental information, 
components of the operating profit, taxation and earnings per share. 

 

2.1 .  OPE R ATI NG  SE GM E N TS  

Accounting policy 

Operating segments are identified, and segment information disclosed, where appropriate based on internal reports 
reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors, being the Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, as defined by AASB 
8.  

 

Information about reportable segments 

The Group has identified its operating segments on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors 
(chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. 

The Group currently operates one operating segment being the graphite exploration in Sri Lanka. 

There have been no changes to the basis of segmentation or the measurement basis for the segment profit or loss since 30 
June 2019. 

 

2.2 .  OT HER  INC O ME  

Accounting Policy 

Other income is recognised when the amount can be reliably measured and control of the right to receive the income be 
passed to the Group.  

 

  2020 2019 
 Note $ $ 

    

Interest income   4,506  1,365 

Other income   56  21,517 

   4,562  22,882 

 

2.3 .  OT HER  O PE R A TI NG E X P E NSE S  

  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

    
Travel and accommodation  (251,203) (284,677) 

Insurance  (62,849) (58,629) 

Computer, telephone and IT expenses  (41,083) (38,776) 

Employee benefit expense  (17,023) (34,899) 
Other expenses  (154,967) (65,835) 

  (527,125) (482,816) 
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2.4 .  F IN ANCE  C O S TS  

  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

    
Interest expense     

Convertible notes (see note 5.1)   (8,822) (6,099) 

Lease interest  (27,494) (3,559) 

Net finance expense recognised in profit or loss   (36,316) (9,658) 

 

2.5 .  LOS S  PE R  S HA R E  

(a) Basic and diluted loss per share 
Earnings / (loss) per share (‘EPS’) is the amount of post-tax profit or loss attributable to each share. 

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share at 30 June 2020 has been based on the loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding. 
 

(b) Basic and diluted loss per share 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

   
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the company  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

Total basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the 
company (cents) (2.00) (2.56) 

 

(c)  Weighted average number of shares used as denominator 

 
 2020 2019 

 Number Number 

   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as denominator in 
calculating basic and diluted loss per share  67,713,672 50,979,140 

 

At 30 June 2020, the performance rights were excluded from diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares calculation 
as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
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SECTION 3 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SUPPORTING EXPLORATION AND 
DEVELOPMENT 

This section focuses on the assets and liabilities which form the core of the ongoing business, including those assets and 
liabilities which support ongoing exploration and development as well as capital and other commitments existing at the year 
end. 

 

3.1 .  EX PLO R A TIO N AN D EV A LU ATI ON E XPE N DI TU R E   

Accounting Policy 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration and 
evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied: 

i. the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 
 

ii. at least one of the following conditions is also met: 
 

(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development 
and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or 
 

(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, 
and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, 
exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortised of 
assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs are only included in the 
measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a particular 
area of interest. 

Key estimates and judgements 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the 
exploration and evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than the 
relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years. 

Area of interest 

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant 
exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to development. 
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3.1. EX PLO R A TIO N AN D E V A LU ATI ON E X PE N DI TU R E  (con t in u ed )  

 
Reconciliation of Exploration and Evaluation assets 

 
   $  
Balance at 1 July 2018  2,330,584 
   

Additions   1,425,941  
Expensed  (21,906) 
Effects of foreign currency translation   (38,140) 
Balance at 30 June 2019   3,696,480  
      
Balance at 1 July 2019  3,696,480 
   
Additions   2,200,954 
Expensed  - 
Effects of foreign currency translation    (83,838) 

Balance at 30 June 2020    5,813,596  

 
For the year ended 30 June 2020, the recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and 
evaluation phases is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.  

 

3.2 .  PRO PE RT Y,  PL ANT AN D E Q UI PM E NT  

Accounting Policy 

Key estimates and assumptions  

Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance expenditure are charged to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance expenditure are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which it is incurred. 

 
Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Group 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate  

  Plant and Equipment 15 - 25%  

  Office Equipment 20%  

  Computer Equipment 20%  

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
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3.2. PRO PERT Y ,  PL ANT AN D EQ UI PM ENT (con t in u e d )  

 
Accounting Policy (continued) 

Derecognition 
Carrying amounts of plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

 

 Plant & 
Equipment 

Office 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles Total  

 $ $ $ $ $ 
            
Balance at 1 July 2018 478,659    2,528    5,539    -  486,726  
Additions 28,026   -   3,259   22,033  53,318  
Transfers  -    -    -    -    -   
Disposals  -    (2,528)    -    -     (2,528) 
Depreciation expense (96,711) -   (1,274) (4,186)   (102,171) 
Effects of foreign currency translation (14,047)   -   (306)  (89)   (14,442)  
Balance at 30 June 2019 395,927  -  7,218  17,758  420,903  
            
Balance at 1 July 2019  395,927   -    7,218   17,758   420,903  
Additions  819,023   -    3,604   -    822,627  
Transfers  -    -    -    -    -   
Disposals  -   -    -    -   - 
Depreciation expense  (103,201)  -    (1,576)  (4,464)  (109,241) 
Effects of foreign currency translation  (38,518)  -    (277)  (276)  (39,071) 

Balance at 30 June 2020  1,073,231   -    8,969   13,018   1,095,218  
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3.3 .  RI G HT O F U SE  AS SET S &  LE ASE  L I ABI L IT Y  

Accounting Policy 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for 
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these 
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased assets are consumed. 

Measurement 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or 
before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.  
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments made. 

Amortisation 

Right-of-use assets are amortised over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset on a straight-
line basis. 
Key estimates and judgements 

Critical judgements in determining the lease term  
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination 
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 

Critical judgements in determining the incremental borrowing rate 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to lease an asset of similar 
value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions. 

 

 2020 2019 
  $ $ 

(a) Right of use assets   
Land & Building   
Opening balance 1 July - - 
Effect of adoption of AASB 16 325,078 - 

Adjusted opening balance 1 July 325,078 - 
Additions 6,289 - 
Amortisation (11,246) - 
Effects of foreign currency translation 453 - 

Closing balance as at 30 June 2020 320,575 - 
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3.3  R IGH T O F  U SE  AS SE TS  &  LE ASE  L I AB IL I T Y  (con t i n u ed )  

  2020 2019 
   $ $ 

(b) Lease liabilities    
    
Lease liabilities    
Current  (28,965) - 
Non-current  (323,165 - 
Total  (352,130) - 
    
Movement    
Closing balance 1 July  (9,649) - 
Effect of adoption of AASB 16  (325,078) - 

Adjusted opening balance 1 July  (334,727) - 
Additions  (6,289) (14,515) 
Interest   (26,934) (1,459) 
Lease payments  16,029 5,591 
Effects of foreign currency translation  (209) 734 

Closing balance as at 30 June 2020  (352,130) 9,649 

 
(c) Measurement of lease liabilities 

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 1,691,829 

  
Discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate ay the date of initial application 340,258 
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 30 June 2019 9,649 
(Less): short term leases not recognised as a liability (15,180) 
(Less): low value leases not recognised as a liability - 
Add/(less): contracts reassessed as lease contracts - 
Add/(less): adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination options - 
Add/(less): adjustments relating to changes in the index or rate affecting variable payments - 

 334,727 
Lease liability recognised as at 1 July 2019  
Of which are:  
   Current lease liabilities 35,752 
   Non-current lease liabilities 298,975 

 334,727 
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3.3  R IGH T O F  U SE  AS SE TS  &  LE ASE  L I AB IL I T Y  (con t i n u ed )  

(d) Material leases 
The table shows the material leases as at 30 June 2020. 

 

Lease name Term Expiry date Details 
Perth office 
 

12 months 17 September 2020 Lease for office premises in Perth. 

Pathakada Land 1 
 

35 years 31 March 2049 Lease of land and property in which the Pathakada 
Exploration licenses are located at 

    
Pathakada Land 2 
 
 

18 months 10 November 2020 Lease of land in which the Pathakada Exploration 
licenses are located at 

Motor Vehicle 
 

36 months 30 June 2021 Lease of motor vehicles to be used on site. 

Colombo Office Premises 
2020 (i) 

36 months 30 November 2022 Lease of office premises in Colombo.  

    
Colombo Office Premises 
(now terminated) (i) 

24 months 30 September 2020 Lease of an office premises in Colombo. Lease was 
terminated in December 2019. 

 
(i) During the period ended 30 June 2020, the Sri Lanka office was moved. The previous lease (Colombo Office Premise) has 
been terminated and the Colombo Office Premises 2020 lease has been entered.  
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SECTION 4 WORKING CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

This section focuses on the cash funding available to the Group and working capital position at year end. 
 

4.1 .  CA SH AN D C AS H E Q UI V ALE NT S  

Accounting Policy 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

  2020 2019 
 Note $ $ 

    

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 6.1 2,070,989 286,975 

    
The perceived credit risk is low as cash and cash equivalents are with authorised deposit taking institutions. 

 

    

 
 

  

(b) Reconcilia

(4,114) 

tion of cash flows from operating activities 
  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Loss for the period  (1,355,438) (1,305,650) 

Adjustments for:    

Depreciation and amortisation  11,632 3,514 

Share based payments  28,293 255,000 

Exploration expenditure written off  - 21,906 

Foreign exchange gains/losses  (1,589) 55,426 

Interest expense on convertible note  8,822 6,101 

Interest on leases  25,294 - 

Lease payments made  37,642 - 

Movements in assets and liabilities   - 

Trade and other receivables   (44,814)  (1,832) 

Other assets   (28,642) 

Prepayments  (164,803)  (35,411) 

Inventories  (43,134)  42,629  

Right of Use Assets  (320,575) - 

Lease liability  316,802  - 

Trade and other payables  334,372   96,138  

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,171,609) (890,821) 
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4.2 .  TR A DE  A N D O T HE R RE C E IVAB LES   

Accounting Policy 

Trade and other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 

 

Key estimates and judgements 
Critical judgements in allowance for expected credit losses 

The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days due, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected credit 
loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience and historical collection rates. 

 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 

    

Other receivables  70,744 53,044 

  70,744 53,044 

 

Information about the Group's exposure to credit and market risks is included in note 6.1. 

 

 
4.3 .  TR A DE  A N D O T HE R P AY AB LES  

Accounting Policy 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 

 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Current    
Trade payables  440,614 239,285 

Other payables and accrued expenses  146,786 41,960 

  587,400 281,245 

 

The Group's exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 6.1. 
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SECTION 5 EQUITY AND FUNDING 

This section focuses on the share capital, options and debt funding available to the Group at year end. 
 

5.1 .  CAP IT AL  AN D R ESER VE S  

Accounting Policy 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

 

(a) Share capital 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 

 
Number of 

shares 
Number of 

shares 
$ $ 

Movements in ordinary shares on issue:     

On issue at 1 July 55,941,933 45,681,430 9,291,551 6,762,125 
Share issue – share placement (Zeta)  - 1,050,000 - 210,000 

Share issue – convertible note (i) 2,561,370 960,980 - 192,196 

Share issue – rights issue at $0.20  - 7,149,523 - 1,429,904 
Share issue – share placement at $0.20  - 125,000 - 25,000 

Share issue – share placement at $0.35  16,527,566 - 5,802,547 - 

Share based payment (ii) 356,391 975,000 124,737 195,000 

Performance shares (ii) 1,385,125 - 283,293 - 
Share issue costs - - (96,250) (26,126) 

Unissued share  - - - 503,452 

On issue at 30 June  76,772,385 55,941,933 15,405,878 9,291,551 
 

(i) Shares relate to prior period to convertible note with an interest of 7% per annum, with a repayment date of 12 
months, convertible into shares at 20 cents per share. The shares were allotted post 30 June 2019.  

(ii) Refer to note 6.2 for the details of the share-based payment and performance shares. 

 
The Company is a public unlisted company limited by shares. The Company is incorporated in Australia. The Company’s shares 
are limited whereby the liability of its members is limited to the amount (if any) unpaid on the shares respectively held by them. 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to 
the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting 
in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 
 

(b) Translation reserve 
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their 
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Australian dollars) are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.  Exchange differences previously 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign 
operations. 
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SECTION 6 OTHER DISCLOSURES 

The disclosures in this section focus on share schemes in operation and financial risk management of the Group.  Other 
mandatory disclosures, such as details of related party transactions, can also be found here. 

 

6.1 .  F IN ANCI AL  INS T RUM E N T S AN D F IN ANC I A L  RI S K  M ANA GE M E NT  

Accounting Policy 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

on the principal amount outstanding.  
 

 

 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial 
assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no 
active market exists. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’ are 
categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose 
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. 

Recognition and derecognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial 
liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 
transaction price in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 
 
Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following 
categories: 
● amortised cost;  
● fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); or  
● fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
 
In the periods presented the Company does not have any financial assets categorised as FVOCI. The classification is 
determined by both the business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of 
the financial asset. 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, 
finance income or other financial items.  
 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as 
FVTPL): 
● they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash 

flows; and  
● the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables 
fall into this category of financial instruments.  
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6.1 .  F I NAN CI AL  I N ST R U M E NTS AND FI N ANC I A L  RI S K M A NAGE ME N T (co n t in u e d )  

Accounting Policy (Continued) 

Impairment of financial assets 
AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses – the 
‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. This replaced AASB 139’s ‘incurred loss model’. Instruments within the scope of the 
new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and  FVOCI, trade 
receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan commitments and  some financial 
guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead the Group 
considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past 
events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash 
flows of the instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 
● financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that have 

low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and 
● financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit 

risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. 
 
‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are 
recognised for the second category. 
 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the 
expected life of the financial instrument. 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities  
The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the 
Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments). 
 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are 
included within finance costs or finance income. 
 

Overview 

The Board monitors and manages the financial risk related to the operations of the Company. Exposure to a variety of financial 
risks, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (interest rate and currency risk) arises in the normal course of the Company’s 
business. The risk management policies are designed to minimise potential adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
performance. 
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6 .1 .  F I NAN CI AL  I N ST R U M E NTS AND FI N ANC I A L  RI S K M A NAGE ME N T (co n t in u e d )  
 

(a) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investments in debt securities. 

The carrying amount of financial assets in represents the maximum credit exposure as follows: 

 

   2020 2019 
   $  $ 

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   2,070,989  286,975 

Trade and other receivables   70,744  53,044 

   2,141,733  340,019 

Currently, the Group undertakes exploration and evaluation activities exclusively in Sri Lanka, hence the Group is not generating 
trading revenue. Trade and other receivables relate to advances made to the director of the Company. There are no financial 
assets past due as at the reporting date. 

 
(b) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses.  This excludes the potential 
impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities excluding the impact of netting arrangements: 

 
 Carrying Contractual 12 months 

 amount cash flows or less 

 $ $ $ 

30 June 2020    
Non-derivative financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 587,400 587,400 587,400 

 587,400 587,400 587,400 

    
30 June 2019    

Non-derivative financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 281,245 281,245 281,245 

 281,245 281,245 281,245 

 

The balances above will not always agree to the financial statements as the contractual cash flows above are undiscounted.  
The carrying amount is the balance as recognised in the statement of financial position. 
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6.1 .  F I NAN CI AL  I N ST R U M E NTS AND FI N ANC I A L  RI S K M A NAGE ME N T (co n t in u e d )  

 
(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices and equity 
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.  There 
has been no change to the manner in which the Group manages market risk from the previous year. 

Currency risk 
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations 
arise. The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date 
is as follows: 

  Assets Liabilities 

  2020 2019 2020 2019 
  $ $ $ $ 

      

United States Dollar (i)  1,075,416 566 - - 

 
(i) This is a USD bank account held by the Group since September 2017. 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Group is mainly exposed to United States Dollar (USD).  The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (30 June 
2019: 10%) increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the relevant foreign currencies and represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 10% (30 June 2019: 10%) change in foreign 
currency rates.  A positive number indicates an increase in other profit and loss where the Australian dollar strengthens against 
the respective currency. 

 Impact on profit and loss 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

   
If AUD strengthens by 10% (30 June 2019: 10%) against USD 64  63  

If AUD weakens by 10% (30 June 2019: 10%) against USD (53) (51) 

 

There would be no impact on other equity of the company and the Group. 

 
Interest rate risk 

The Group only has interest rate risk relating to its funds on deposit with banking institutions.  Accordingly, the Group does not 
hedge its interest rate risk exposure. 

 
Exposure to interest rate risk 

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to management of the Group is as 
follows: 

  Carrying amount 
  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    

Variable rate instruments    
Cash and cash equivalents  2,070,989 286,975 
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6.1 .  F I NAN CI AL  I N ST R U M E NTS AND FI N ANC I A L  RI S K M A NAGE ME N T (co n t in u e d )  

(c) Market risk (continued) 
 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  Therefore, a 
change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 

 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents as a result of changes in interest rates. 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased / (decreased) profit and loss by the 
amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  The analysis is performed on the same 
basis as for twelve months ended 30 June 2019. 

 
  Impact on profit or loss 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

Variable rate instruments  2,070,989 286,975 
Cash flow sensitivity    

Interest rate increase by 100bp  20,710 2,870 

Interest rate decrease by 100bp  (20,710) (2,870) 

 

At the reporting date the Group did not hold any variable rate financial liabilities. 

 
(d) Fair values 
 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities.   

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of 
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurable date.  Fair value for measurement and / or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is 
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of AASB 2, leasing 
transactions that are within the scope of AASB 117, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as net realisable value in AASB 2 or value in use in AASB 136. 

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are 
described as follows: 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurable date; 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade creditors, other creditors, accruals and employee entitlements 
have been excluded from the above analysis as their fair values are equal to the carrying values. 
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6.2 .  SH ARE -B A SED PA YME N TS  

Accounting Policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 
 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for 
the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount of 
cash is determined by reference to the share price. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined 
using either the Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions 
that do not determine whether the Group receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account 
is taken of any other vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting 
period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the best 
estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already 
recognised in previous periods. 

the expired portion of the vesting period. 
● from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 

reporting date. 

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to 
settle the liability. 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award 
was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows: 
● during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied by 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. 
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining expense 
is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and new 
award is treated as if they were a modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated 
as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting 
period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 
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6.2.  SHARE -B ASE D PAYMENT S (cont inued)  
 

(a) Share payment in lieu of cash 

During the 2020 financial year, the Company has issued shares in lieu of cash payments as follows: 

 On 20 December 2019, 14,286 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Hamish Fraser for his consulting services in 
relation to the exploration activities. 

 On 17 March 2020, 28,571 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Hamish Fraser for his consulting services in 
relation to the exploration activities. 

 On 17 March 2020, 27,143 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Murray Carpenter for his consulting services in 
relation to the exploration activities. 

 On 30 March 2020, 55,318 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Hamish Fraser for his consulting services in 
relation to the exploration activities. 

 On 7 May 2020, 76,786 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Hamish Fraser for his consulting services in relation 
to the exploration activities. 

 On 11 May 2020, 68,571 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to Aetas Global Capital Pte Ltd for corporate finance 
consulting services rendered. 

 On 13 May 2020, 85,714 shares at $0.35 in lieu of cash payments to GAD Solutions Pty Ltd for information technology 
services rendered. 

 

(b) Performance rights to Directors 
On 28 September 2017, the Company passed a resolution to issue a total of 3,125,000 Performance Rights to the Directors of 
the Company. The issue of the Performance Rights as follows: 

Directors Class A  

Performance Rights 

Class B  

Performance Rights 

Peter Venn 575,000 575,000 
John Shackleton 575,000 575,000 

Peter Cunningham - 575,000 

Varuna Mallawarachchi 125,000 125,000 

 

The terms of the Performance Rights are as follows: 
Class of Performance Rights Performance Conditions Expiry date 

Class A 

Performance Right 

Prior to 31 March 2019 the Company discovers an 
Indicated Mineral Resource” of at least 100,000 
tonnes having a grade exceeding 80% graphite (Cg). 

31 March 2020 

Class B 
Performance Right 

Prior to 31 March 2020 the Company both: 
(1) completes a Feasibility Study on one of the 
Company’s Sri Lankan graphite projects; and 

(2) is granted a Category A Industrial Mining License 
(IML) by the Geological Survey and Mines Bureau of 
Sri Lanka in respect of one of the Company’s Sri 
Lankan graphite projects. 

31 March 2021 

 

The Performance Rights only vest when the Performance Conditions have been satisfied, and the holder of the Performance 
Rights has 6 months after the vesting date to exercise the Performance Rights.  
 
During the prior year ended 30 June 2019, the Directors determined there was a high probability of the performance conditions 
for Class A Performance Rights being met. On this basis, 1,275,000 of Class A Performance Rights at $0.20 each have been 
expensed in the 30 June 2019 financial year as share based payments. On 29 July 2019, the Class A Performance Rights vested 
and 1,275,000 shares were allotted to the holders of the Performance Rights.  
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6.2.  SHARE -B ASE D PAYMENT S (cont inued)  

 
At 30 June 2020, the Directors have noted the vesting conditions for Class B Performance Rights will not be met given the 
deadline of 31 March 2020 has passed. The application for IML has been submitted and is currently pending and a Feasibility 
study is currently ongoing. 
 
On 22 May 2020, the Company passed a resolution to issue a total of 4,450,000 Performance Rights to the Directors of the 
Company. The issue of the Performance Rights as follows: 

Directors Class A  
Performance Rights 

Class B  
Performance Rights 

Class C  
Performance Rights 

Class D  
Performance Rights 

Peter Venn 300,000 175,000 200,000 275,000 

John Shackleton 475,000 325,000 350,000 450,000 

Peter Cunningham 300,000 175,000 200,000 275,000 

Varuna Mallawarachchi 300,000 175,000 200,000 275,000 

 
The terms of the Performance Rights are as follows: 

Class  Performance Conditions Expiry date 

Class A 

Performance Right 

On or before 30 September 2020 the Company announces or 
reports to its shareholders the completion of a feasibility study 
in relation to any resource (as defined by the JORC Code 2012) 
concluding that Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Deposit 
development is commercially viable (Feasibility Study); and; 
the Board has resolved to proceed with financing activities for 
the development of the Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Deposit. 

30 September 
2020 

Class B 

Performance Right 

On or before 31 December 2020 the Company announces or 
reports to its shareholders the receipt and acceptance of the 
Company or one of its subsidiaries of an offer of unconditional 
finance, either debt and/or equity, for the commencement of 
development of primary mine access at the Ridee Ganga Vein 
Graphite Deposit. 

31 December 
2021 

Class C 

Performance Right 

On or before 31 May 2021, the Company announces or reports 
to its shareholders that the Company or one of its subsidiaries 
has entered one or more binding agreements with unrelated 
third parties for the unconditional purchase of a minimum of 
5,000 tonnes per annum of graphite  produced by the 
Company at its Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Deposit 

31 May 2021 

Class D 

Performance Right 

On or before 31 March 2022, the Company announces or 
reports to its shareholders a new JORC Code 2012 compliant 
Indicated Mineral Resource Estimate of at least 100,000 
tonnes with a minimum grading of 75% TGC outside of the 
Ridee Ganga Vein Graphite Deposit. 

31 March 2022 

 
The Performance Rights only vest when the Performance Conditions have been satisfied, and the holder of the Performance 
Rights has 6 months after the vesting date to exercise the Performance Rights.  
 
At 30 June 2020, as a result of the Directors assessing the likelihood of vesting conditions being met for all classes of 
performance rights, no performance rights have been expensed as share based payments.  
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6.2.  SHARE -B ASE D PAYMENT S (cont inued)  
 

(c) Performance shares to Employees 
On 19 August 2019, the Company passed a resolution to issue a total of 242,511 Performance Rights to the employees of the 
Company. The issue and terms of the Performance Rights are as follow: 

Class  
Number 
issued 

Performance Conditions Expiry date 

Class C 

Performance Right 

80,837 Prior to 31 March 2021 the Company discovers an Indicated 
Mineral Resource” at Pathakada of at least 100,000 tonnes 
having a grade exceeding 80% graphite (Cg). 

31 March 2021 

Class D 

Performance Right 

80,837 Prior to 31 March 2020 the Company is granted a Category A 
Industrial Mining License (IML) by the Geological Survey and 
Mines Bureau of Sri Lanka in respect of one of the Company’s 
Sri Lankan graphite projects; 

31 March 2021 

Class E 

Performance Right 

80,837 Prior to 31 March 2021 the Company discovers an Indicated 
Mineral Resource” at Aluketiya of at least 100,000 tonnes 
having a grade exceeding 80% graphite (Cg). 

31 March 2021 

 

The Performance Rights only vest when the Performance Conditions have been satisfied, and the holder of the Performance 
Rights has 6 months after the vesting date to exercise the Performance Rights.  
 
During the year, the Directors determined that the performance conditions for Class C Performance Rights were met. On this 
basis, 80,837 of on Class C Performance Rights at $0.35 each have been allotted and expensed as share based payments. The 
valuation of $0.35 is based on the private placement to sophisticated shareholders during the period. As at 30 June 2020, all 
80,827 of the Class C Performance Rights have been exercised and converted to shares.  
 
At 30 June 2020, the Directors were continuing to assess the possibility of vesting conditions for Class D and Class E Performance 
Rights being met. The application for IML has been submitted and is currently pending. The Company has been unable to 
complete further drilling at Aluketiya during the year due to Covid-19 access restrictions. 
 

(d) Share based payment reserve 
The share-based payment reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to Directors and employees as part of 
their remuneration.  

   2020 2019 

   $  $ 

Opening balance 1 July  255,000  - 
Class A Performance Rights – expensed (i)  -  255,000 

Class A Performance Rights – exercised (i)  (255,000) - 

Class C Performance Rights – expensed (ii)  28,292  - 
Class C Performance Rights – Issued (ii)  (28,292) - 

Closing balance  -  255,000 

 
i. In the 30 June 2019 financial year end, an expense of $255,000 has been recognised in the share-based payment reserve 

due to the high probability of the performance conditions for Class A Performance Right being met. On 29 July 2019, 
these Performance Rights were exercised and converted to shares. 

ii. During the year, $26,293 has been expensed in the reserve due to performance conditions for Class C Performance Right 
being met and $26,293 relating to the Class C performance Right were exercised and converted to shares. 
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6.3 .  RE LATE D P AR TIES  

Key management personnel compensation comprises the following: 

 

  2020 2019 

 Note $ $ 

Short term employee benefits  140,000 135,421 

Post-employment benefits  - - 

  140,000 135,421 

 

Other key management personnel transactions 
A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other companies that result in them having 
control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. 
 

Some of these companies transacted with the Company during the year. The terms and conditions of these transactions were 
no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, in similar transactions to non-
key management personnel related companies on an arm’s length basis.   
 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which 
they have control or significant influence were as follows: 
 

   Transactions value Balance outstanding 

   year ended 30 June as at 30 June 

   2020 2019 2020 2019 

Key management 
person 

 
Transaction 

 
Note 

 
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

Peter Cunningham Director fees, consulting 
fees, travel fees etc.  

(i) 183,641 98,447 28,935 3,348 

John Shackleton Director fees, consulting 
fees, travel fees etc. 

(ii) 288,422 265,019 47,496 47,570 

John Shackleton Rent (iii) - 12,000 - - 

Peter Venn Director fees, consulting 
fees, travel fees etc. 

(iv) 127,883 172,648 18,092 47,570 

Varuna 
Mallawarachchi 

Director fees, consulting 
fees, travel fees etc. 

(v) 67,325 69,900 5,000 8,075 

Varuna 
Mallawarachchi 

Cash Advances 
(vi) - - - 11,970 

 

(i) The Company used the director and consultancy services of Allbeach Nominees Pty Ltd, a company associated with Peter 
Cunningham, in relation to his role as the Non-Executive Director of the Company.  This amount includes disbursements 
paid. Amounts were billed based on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal 
payment terms. 

(ii) The Company used the director and consultancy services of Noralee Pty Ltd, a company associated with John Shackleton, 
in relation to his role as the Executive Chairman of the Company. This amount includes disbursements paid. Amounts 
were billed based on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms. 

 (iii)  In the previous financial year, the Company leased an office from Noralee Pty Ltd, a company associated with John 
Shackleton. Amounts were billed based on normal market rental rates and were due and payable under normal payment 
terms. 

 (iv)  The Company used the director and consultancy services of Venn Family Trust, an entity associated with Peter Venn, in 
relation to his role as a Director of the Company. This amount includes disbursements paid. Amounts were billed based 
on normal market rates for such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms. 
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6.3.  RELATE D PART IES  (contin ued)  

 
(v) The Company used the director and consultancy services of Varuna Mallawarachi, in relation to his role as a Director of 

the Company. This amount includes disbursements paid. Amounts were billed based on normal market rates for such 
services and were due and payable under normal payment terms. 

(vi) The Company through its subsidiary, Lankan Resources & Development (Pvt) Ltd provided cash advances to 
Mallawarachchi Associates, a legal firm in which Varuna Mallawarachchi is a Senior Partner.  

 

6.4 .  SUB SI DI ARI E S  

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 

Name of subsidiary Principal activity 

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation 

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting power 

held by the Group 

2020 2019 

% % 

Margosa Holdings (Australia) Pty Ltd Holding company Australia 100 100 
Margosa Investments Pvt Ltd Holding company Sri Lanka 100 100 

Lankan Resources & Mining Pvt Ltd Exploration Sri Lanka 100 100 

 
6.5 .  PARE N T COM P ANY DI SC LOS UR E S  

As at, and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the parent entity of the Group was Margosa Graphite Limited. 
 

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

    
Results of the parent entity    

Loss for the year  (1,275,041) (1,674,137) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,275,041) (1,674,137) 

    

Financial position of parent entity at year end    

Non-current assets  7,119,202 4,144,658 
Current assets  2,265,224 307,443 

Total assets  9,384,426 4,452,101 

    
Current liabilities  (537,781) (189,743) 

Total liabilities  (537,781) (189,743) 

    

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:    

Share capital  15,405,878 9,546,551 

Accumulated losses  (6,559,234) (5,284,193) 

Total (deficiency) / equity  8,846,644 4,262,358 
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6.6 .  SUB SE Q UEN T  E VE NT S  

Between 1 July 2020 and the reporting date, the Company has raised $35,000 through private placement with investors at 
$0.35 per share and issued 231,349 in shares as payment in lieu of cash for the part purchase of a second drill rig. 
 

In August 2020, the Company acquired a 49% interest in Kumbuk Investments (Private) Limited (‘Kumbuk’). On 3 September 
2020, the Company entered into a 40 year lease arrangement with Kumbuk for 4 acres of land critical to the Pathakada Project 
with the option to acquire 100% of Kumbuk at the end of the lease term.  
 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Group's operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing. Whilst it has had limited financial impact for the consolidated 
entity up to 30 June 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date.   
 

The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, 
such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be 
provided. 
 

6.7 .  AU DI TO R S ’  R E M UNE R A TI ON  

  2020 2019 

  $ $ 

BDO     
Audit, other assurance services and review of financial reports   23,667 16,000 

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  23,667 16,000 

    

Taxation services  3,277 - 

Total remuneration for non-audit services  3,277 - 

  26,944 16,000 

 

It is the Group’s policy to employ BDO on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where BDO's expertise and 
experience with the Group are important.  It is the Group’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major consulting projects. 
 

6.8 .  CONT ING E NC I ES  

There were no contingencies as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil). 

 
6.9 .  OT HER  S IGNI F IC A N T AC COUN T IN G  P OLI CI E S  

(a) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the statement of financial position. 
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6.1 0 .  CH ANGE S I N  ACC OUN T I NG PO LIC I ES  AN D D IS CL OS URE S  

Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

The Group has adopted all new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. The Group had to change its 
accounting policies as a result of adopting AASB 16 Leases however it did not require retrospective adjustments. 

a) AASB 16 Leases 

The Group has adopted AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 retrospectively but has not restated comparatives for the 2019 
reporting period as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the standard. AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases along 
with three interpretations. Under the new standard, right of use assets are recognized along with the related lease liability in 
connection with all operating leases except for those identified as low-value or having a lease term of less than 12 months.  

The adoption of AASB 16 resulted in a recognition of right of use assets of $325,079 and lease liabilities of $325,079 on 1 July 
2019, and changes in accounting policy (see note 3.3). 

 

6.1 1 .  NEW  A CCO UNT I NG ST A NDA RD S A ND I NTER PRET A TI O NS N OT  YET  ADO PTED  

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, 
have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020. The Group has not yet assessed 
the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 
 

A number of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are in issue but not yet effective for the current year end. 
The following existing group accounting policies will change on adoption of these pronouncements: 
 

AASB 2019-1 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework 

The revised Conceptual Framework includes some new concepts, provides updated definitions and recognition criteria for 
assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts. It is arranged in eight chapters: 

• Chapter 1 – The objective of financial reporting  
• Chapter 2 – Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information  
• Chapter 3 – Financial statements and the reporting entity  
• Chapter 4 – The elements of financial statements  
• Chapter 5 – Recognition and derecognition  
• Chapter 6 – Measurement  
• Chapter 7 – Presentation and disclosure  
• Chapter 8 – Concepts of capital and capital maintenance  

 

AASB 2019-1 sets out the amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other pronouncements in order 
to update references to the revised Conceptual Framework. The changes to the Conceptual Framework may affect the 
application of accounting standards in situations where no standard applies to a particular transaction or event. In addition, 
relief has been provided in applying AASB 3 and developing accounting policies for regulatory account balances using AASB 
108, such that entities must continue to apply the definitions of an asset and a liability (and supporting concepts) in the 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (July 2004), and not the definitions in the revised 
Conceptual Framework.   
 
This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The directors of the Company do not 
anticipate that the application of this Standard will have a material impact on the Group. 
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6.1 1 .   NE W A CCO UN TIN G ST A N DAR D S AN D I NT E R PRET A TI ONS N OT  YE T A DO PTE D (con t in u ed )  

 
AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material  

This standard amends, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors to align the definition of “material” across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. 
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. An entity will need to assess 
whether the information, either individually or in combination with our information, is material in the context of the financial 
statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decision made by the 
primary users. 
 
This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The directors of the Company do not 
anticipate that the application of this Standard will have a material impact on the Group. 
 
Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 
This Standard aims to improve presentation in financial statements by clarifying the criteria for the classification of a 
liability as either current or non-current. 
 
This amendment is to clarify that the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the 
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period and clarify the link between the settlement of the liability and the 
outflow of resources from the entity. 
 
This amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The directors of the 
Company do not anticipate that the application of this Standard will have a material impact on the Group. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

The Directors of the Group declare that: 
 

1. The financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and: 

 
(a) comply with Accounting Standards, which as stated in accounting policy 1.1 to the financial statements, 

constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Corporations 
Regulations 2001, and other mandatory reporting requirements; and 

 
(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of the performance for the year ended 

on that date of the Group; 

 

2. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have each declared that: 
 

(a) the financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 
section 266 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

(b) the financial statements and note for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and 
(c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 

 
3. In the Directors’ opinion, as set out in note 1.2, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 

Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 29th day of October 2020. 

 
 

4. This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 
 

 

 
 

 

John Shackleton 

Executive Chairman 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Margosa Graphite Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Margosa Graphite Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’
declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of Margosa Graphite Limited, is in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code)
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the
time of this auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Note 1.2 in the financial report which describes the events and/or conditions
which give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information obtained at the date of
this auditor’s report is information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial
report and our auditor’s report thereon.



Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Dean Just

Director

Perth, 29 October 2020
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